# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/2/2024 3:21 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Court of Appeals No. 853139

Supreme Court No. \_\_\_102691-9

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

SAMUEL TUCKER, an individual,

Plaintiff/Petitioner,

v.

SEATTLE CITY LIGHT, a department of THE CITY OF SEATTLE, a municipality, and ANDREW STRONG, an individual,

Defendants/Respondents,

# PETITION FOR REVIEW

THE SHERIDAN LAW FIRM, P.S.

John P. Sheridan, WSBA # 21473 Hoge Building, Suite 1200 705 Second Avenue Seattle, WA 98104

Phone: 206-381-5949

Email: jack@sheridanlawfirm.com

Attorneys for Petitioner

#

# I. INTRODUCTION

This race discrimination case was brought under the WLAD and ended, for the most part, in a CR 68 offer of judgment and acceptance. This appeal is not about the WLAD claims or liability or damages flowing from those claims. It is about the trial court exceeding its ministerial authority by ignoring Appellant's version of the CR 68 judgment (which listed both Respondents as judgment debtors), and instead signed a judgment drafted by the Respondents, which deletes white Manager Andrew Strong from the judgment debtor line of the summary.

Deleting the name of a defendant as a judgment debtor was a racially charged decision by the trial court favoring a white manager, who is an individual Defendant alleged to have aided and abetted in the City's discrimination, retaliation, and harassment of Mr. Tucker. In the CR 68 context, he is also a judgment debtor.

Until recently the Respondents took the position that this

issue was unimportant, and that they simply wanted Strong removed from the judgment summary because he would be indemnified by the City if need be. If it is unimportant, and if this is not about race, then why is the City spending so much time and recourses to defend this appeal, when all they had to do was to adopt Appellant's proposed judgment, which identifies Andrew Strong as a judgment debtor in the judgment summary just like as was done in another CR 68 case against the City, in which white individual defendants and the City of Seattle offered and accepted a CR 68 offer of judgment—there the judgment listed the white individual defendants as judgment debtors. CP 703 (offer), CP 699 (acceptance), CP 620-621, 612 (race of defendants), and judgment (CP 707). No problems. What is different about this case?

Here, everything is different. This case is about race discrimination. Since the appeal was filed, the City's explanation has evolved as to why Strong should not be included in the judgment debtor's line in the summary.

The Respondents' most recent stated reason for not having white Manager Andrew Strong's name in the judgment summary as a judgment debtor, was stated twice by the Respondents at the Court of Appeals and shows the fear that the judgment will be used by a Black employee to hurt a white manager. They wrote:

A more compelling question is why does Tucker continue to press on with his frivolous appeal? Is it to assuage his ego? Or is it because he seeks to plaster the workplace or social media with a judgment summary that names his former supervisor to wreak some type of revenge for his litigation failure?

# Motion to Modify Answer at 2.

Tucker is not an aggrieved party because he received his money. At best he now has hurt feelings; at worse, he holds malice toward Strong and seeks to use the judgment summary as a "scarlet letter" to besmirch Strong's character and credit, notwithstanding that Strong has long since ceased to be his supervisor. That does not give Tucker standing to further waste this Court's time and the City's resources.

Motion to modify Answer at 10. As will be shown below, this is classic fear by whites of Black men, and here, casting Strong as the victim is much like the victims in "Birth of a Nation."

We are here today because of the Court's June 4, 2020 open letter to the judiciary and legal community, in which the Supreme Court told attorneys and judges, "We go by the title of "Justice" and we reaffirm our deepest level of commitment to achieving justice by ending racism. We urge you to join us in these efforts. This is our moral imperative."

This is an effort to combat racism in the courthouse. In *Henderson*, this Court also reminded us:

Courts take a step toward achieving greater justice when the people who comprise them comprehend the legacy of injustices built into our legal systems, actively work to prevent racism before it occurs, and also recognize how our participation in these systems may reify them.

Henderson v. Thompson, 200 Wash. 2d at 446.

This is an issue of substantial public interest that should be taken up by the Supreme Court because it is an act that happened in the courthouse with the participation and sanction of the trial judge. The trial court should have limited itself to the ministerial function regarding CR 68 and just signed the Appellant's version, but having turned off that path, the court's actions caused the Appellant to complain that this was a discriminatory act, and with this Court's help, "as soon as a court becomes aware of allegations that racial bias may have been a factor [in the court's decision], the court shall take affirmative steps to oversee further inquiry into the matter." See State v. Berhe, 193 Wash. 2d 647, 662, 444 P.3d 1172, 1180 (2019). "Courts have an obligation to ensure that trials are conducted fairly and to recognize when substantial justice has not been done." Henderson v. Thompson, 200 Wash. 2d 417, 438, 518 P.3d 1011, 1024 (2022), cert. denied, 143 S. Ct. 2412, 216 L. Ed. 2d 1276 (2023).

This case demonstrates why we need the *Henderson* and *Berhe* procedures applied to court orders so we can eradicate racism in the courthouse whenever it appears. There is no argument against the procedures. They would work as well here

as they did there.

## II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is Samuel Tucker.

### III. DECISION BELOW

Mr. Tucker seeks review of the decision issued by

Division One of the Court of Appeals on December 1, 2023. A

copy of the decision is in the Appendix at A034.

## IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. If there is an allegation made in a court that racial bias was a factor in an order issued by that court, does the court have a duty to conduct and oversee an inquiry into the allegation?
- If yes, should the court utilize the procedures found in Henderson v. Thompson, 200 Wash. 2d 417, 518 P.3d
   1011, 1016 (2022) and State v. Berhe, 193 Wash. 2d 647, 444 P.3d 1172, 1182 (2019)?
- 3. If yes, should issues like standing and mootness be relaxed if necessary to achieve justice?

### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# **Background**

Samuel Tucker is a Manager 3 of large projects at Seattle City Light, a position he has held since 1999 (A054). In May 2018, he filed a race discrimination complaint with the department of human resources/EEOC against his manager, Andrew Strong. A039.

In May 2018, Mr. Tucker filed another complaint with the City Office of Civil Rights again alleging race discrimination by the City of Seattle. A040-41.

In October 2019, in a memo from Andrew Strong to DaVonna Johnson, the People and Culture Officer at Seattle City Light, Mr. Strong reported that Mr. Tucker was speaking too loudly during a meeting. A046-49.

In December 2020, Mr. Tucker served a tort claim on the City alleging discrimination and retaliation owing to his race;

8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The background information appearing in the Appendix have recently been submitted as clerk's papers but have not been numbered as yet. Those documents will be identified as A\_\_\_\_\_, as will rulings by the Court of Appeals, the Commissioner, and the trial court.

he supplemented that claim in August 2021. A049-50.

On May 3, 2021, Mr. Tucker filed a complaint in King County Superior Court alleging discrimination against him by the City of Seattle and by Andrew Strong. CP 1-62.

On August 10, 2021, an outside investigator issued a written report regarding allegations against Mr. Tucker that he treated a woman employee, Delcina Lal, with disrespect, potentially as a result of gender bias; the investigation began on June 2, 2021.<sup>2</sup> A052. Ms. Lal reported to the investigator that Mr. Tucker spoke to her in a disrespectful tone; she felt humiliated, embarrassed, and insulted—this was after the lawsuit was filed. A057.

Mr. Tucker denied that he was disrespectful to Ms. Lal, which was supported by other witnesses who said they didn't notice anything unremarkable or troubling about Mr. Tucker's behavior. A057. The investigator found no support for the

9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For the purposes of this appeal appellant makes no objection regarding the content of the report, which is not offered for the truth of the statements, but offered as notice to management and to Mr. Tucker about the investigator's findings.

allegations against Mr. Tucker by Ms. Lal. A057.

The investigator was not told by the City Light managers who hired her, that Mr. Tucker had filed a discrimination lawsuit against the City and Mr. Strong. A063-4. The investigator learned about the lawsuit later, during an interview with Mr. Tucker. A055 n.1.

Ms. Lal's supervisor, Sandra Ball, met with Mr. Tucker after meeting with Craig Smith, the Chief Customer Officer, Executive 3. A054, A058. She also gave a "brief heads up" to Mr. Strong. A058. Her approach was adversarial accusing Mr. Tucker of being disrespectful and discriminatory in his treatment of Miss Lal. A058. Mr. Tucker stopped the meeting so he could obtain union representation. A058.

The investigator found that stopping the meeting with Ms. Ball was a violation of the "Teamwork" expectation. A059. The investigator noted that Tucker said to her that as a Black male he feels vulnerable to accusations of bullying and aggression. A059.

Andrew Strong gave Mr. Tucker a verbal warning for his interactions with Ms. Ball. CP344. This the first step in progressive discipline. CP228-29.

On May 2, 2022, Mr. Tucker filed his first supplemental complaint against the same Defendants. CP 63-117.

# The CR 68 Offer and Acceptance

On February 28, 2023 the City made a CR 68 offer of judgment that stated, in part: "Pursuant to Civil Rule 68, Defendants City of Seattle, Seattle City Light, and Andrew Strong (collectively, "Defendants") hereby offer to allow judgment to be taken against it in favor of Plaintiff Samuel Tucker." CP 253. The offer was limited in scope in that it applied only to the claims set forth in Plaintiff's complaint and supplemental complaint. CP 253–4. The first supplemental complaint was filed on May 2, 2022. CP 63.

On March 1, 2023, the Defendant delivered another claim against Mr. Tucker involving his alleged mistreatment of another woman in April 2022. CP 338-9, 343-348.

On March 6, 2023, Plaintiff filed a motion requesting a *Henderson*-styled evidentiary hearing before trial to address some conduct by the Defense that may have been improper and racially motivated under the holding in *Henderson v*.

Thompson, 200 Wash. 2d 417, 421, 518 P.3d 1011, 1016

(2022). CP 118. The motion included a declaration from Chris Knaus, Ph.D., a race scholar and critical race theory practitioner employed at the University of Washington. In his testimony, he explained the dilemma that still plagues the United States. CP 134. He wrote:

To understand anti-Black stereotypes in the U.S., one must also consider the foundation of the building of the U.S. Three key historical realities help clarify anti-Black stereotypes. The first is that the foundation of anti-Black racism began with the founding of the United States, which is well documented all the way to the beginning of the African slave trade. U.S. society has continued to enact anti-Black racism, from laws made to enact anti-Blackness, to the unequal provision of health care, schools, housing, economic resources, and the criminal justice system. All of this is very well documented.

. . .

The second historical reality is that anti-Black racism is socially constructed, meaning it is not based on fact, but instead, intentional myths.

. . . .

The third historical reality is that anti-Black racism is cultivated through stereotypes that specifically aim to paint Black men as violent threats, despite the overwhelming preponderance of evidence that state violence has long been structured to cause harm to Black men, rather than the other way around. Such stereotypes are so commonly seen and normalized that critical race theory has named a tenet, that of the property rights of whiteness, after the protection of white spaces from Black people, and especially Black men. Thus, when Black people exist in public spaces, white people can feel compelled to call the police, who then often engage with Black people who were simply having a barbeque in their backyard, jogging down a public street, taking pictures of birds in public parks, or otherwise existing in public. Throughout U.S. history and today, anti-Black racism specifically targets Black men by painting them as threats to white people, white women, and white property.

. . .

While many specific myths stereotype Black men, most are related to the mis-framing of Black men as angry. This larger stereotype serves as a foundation to justify violence against Black men, and leads to other related stereotypes, such as Black men are prone to violence, are loud, cause

behavioral problems, and are anti-social. All of these have been thoroughly debunked across scientific literatures in psychology,

CP 138-142. Dr. Knaus has clearly explained stereotypes.

Because the City waited until March 1, 2023 to propose discipline for events that occurred in April 2022 (a year earlier), Mr. Tucker would have to file another tort claim, and wait 60 days to include the March 1, 2023 allegation in the lawsuit, which meant he would lose his April 7, 2023 trial date. CP 266, 269-70. This case was filed in King County Superior Court on May 3, 2021 (CP 825), so on March 10, 2023, Mr. Tucker accepted the offer of judgment with knowledge that there will be another trial based on the March 1 allegation. CP 233.

Mr. Tucker is still employed by the City of Seattle. CP 339.

### VI. ARGUMENT

1. There Is a Pressing Need To Develop A
Procedure That Practitioners May Follow To
Confront Perceived Racism In The Courthouse

In a race discrimination case in which the Black Plaintiff

was disciplined by the white individual Defendant manager for being loud and disrespecting a woman, this counsel could not look away from the obvious effort by the City to remove the name, Andrew Strong, from the judgment summaries. This counsel sought support from the trial court, and only appealed on behalf of Mr. Tucker after it became obvious that the trial court was supporting the name deletion.

In the reply brief on reconsideration Tucker addressed an attorney's duty to fight white privilege in the courtroom.

So why is this worth addressing in this proceeding? The answer is because the only way to stop white privilege is to speak up whenever you see it, and we can see it here. "Whether explicit or implicit, purposeful or unconscious, racial bias has no place in a system of justice. If racial bias is a factor in the decision of a judge or jury, that decision does not achieve substantial justice, and it must be reversed." *Henderson v. Thompson*, 200 Wash. 2d 417, 421, 518 P.3d 1011, 1016 (2022).

This type of situation happens every day everywhere. We can improve the lives of Black Americans (and our own) by taking notice and taking action to stop it. All of us.

CP614.

Rather than tie up the money for months or years, Tucker accepted the money and cashed the checks. Then he appealed the Trial Court's action in deleting Strong from the judgment debtor lines in the judgment summaries relying on an exception to the mootness doctrine.

# The Ministerial Duty of the Trial Court

"CR 68 imposes a ministerial duty on the court to enter a judgment." *Critchlow v. Dex Media W.*, Inc., 192 Wash. App. 710, 717, 368 P.3d 246, 249 (2016). "CR 68 does not hint of the need or even possibility of the parties to continue to negotiate terms of the settlement or the form of a judgment. Instead, the rule imposes an obligation on the trial court to enter a judgment for the amount offered." *Id.* at 718. The trial court abused its discretion acting beyond their authority by helping the Defendants to make an unauthorized change to the judgment summary, and the commissioner affirmed the Trial Court's actions.

"A Rule 68 offer is not simply an offer of settlement, but

an offer that judgment can be entered on specified terms."

Critchlow v. Dex Media W., Inc., 192 Wash. App. 710, 717,

368 P.3d 246, 250 (2016) citing, Real Estate Pros, PC v. Byars,

2004 Wy 58, 90 P.3d 110, 113 (Wyo.2004).

If the offer is accepted, the court automatically enters judgment in favor of the offeree. *Critchlow v. Dex Media W., Inc.*, 192 Wash. App. at 717 *citing*, *Real Estate Pros*, *PC v. Byars*, 2004 Wy 58.

Unlike a settlement agreement, which does not accrue interest if payment is delayed post-settlement, a CR 68 judgment begins to "bear interest from the date of entry [of the judgment]. RCW 4.56.110 (interest on judgments), 42.30.020 (applies to municipalities).

"By virtue of the entry of judgment, the offeree becomes the prevailing party as to all claims pending at the time of the offer." *Washington Greensview Apartment Assocs. v.* Travelers *Prop. Cas. Co. of Am.*, 173 Wash. App. 663, 671, 295 P.3d 284, 288 (2013).

Mr. Tucker is the prevailing party on the following claims brought under the Washington Law Against Discrimination (RCW 49.60. et. seq.), which were pending at the time of the CR 68 offer:

- Aiding and Abetting against Strong;
- WLAD Discrimination (Disparate Treatment) against the City;
- WLAD Retaliation against the City;
- WLAD Hostile Work Environment (Harassment) against the City;
- Harassment in retaliation for opposing Discrimination against the City.

CP 285-286.

# 2. Standing Here Is a Personal Right

Under the Commissioner's ruling, there is a place where no judge can oversee improper behavior or work that is simply wrong, and that place is in the finalizing of a judgment. That cannot be right, but the Commissioner relied on cases addressing hurt feelings that do not support standing. You have to have a personal right. Ruling at 6–7. A029-A030. This is not

about hurt feelings. It's about a microaggression that has racial overtones.

Mr. Tucker has a personal right to be treated as well as a white man is treated, and he should be able to stand before the Court to assert the need to re-insert the name of the individual Defendant, who is a judgment debtor, on the judgments.

The Commissioner's ruling is an error caused by an inability to see racial microaggressions.

To be black in the United States today means to be socially minimized. For each day blacks are victims of white "offensive mechanisms" which are designed to reduce, dilute, atomize, and encase the hapless into his "place." The incessant lesson the black must hear is that he is insignificant and irrelevant.

. . . .

The subtle, stunning, repetitive event that many whites initiate and control in their dealings with blacks that can be termed a *racial microaggression*. Any single microaggression from an offender to a defender (or victimizer to victim) in itself is minor and inconsequential. However, the relentless omnipresence of these noxious stimuli is the fabric of black-white

relations in America.<sup>3</sup>

Our Supreme Court has stated, "Whether explicit or implicit, purposeful or unconscious, racial bias has no place in a system of justice. If racial bias is a factor in the decision *of a judge* or jury, that decision does not achieve substantial justice, and it must be reversed." *Henderson v. Thompson*, 200 Wash. 2d at 421–22. Here, "an objective observer (one who is aware that implicit, institutional, and unconscious biases, in addition to purposeful discrimination . . . in Washington State) could view race as a factor" in the trial judge's improper decision to delete the white manager's name from the judgment summaries. *See, Henderson v. Thompson*, at 422. One would think that analysis could be applied in this situation.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Solorzano, Daniel G and Huber, Lindsay Perez, <u>Racial Microaggressions</u>: <u>Using Critical Race Theory to Respond to Everyday Racism</u>, Teachers College Press, New York (2020) P. 30-31, citing, Pierce, Chester, <u>Is Bigotry the Basis of the Medical Problem of the Ghetto?</u> Found in: <u>Center for the History of Medicine</u> (Francis A. Countway Library of <u>Medicine</u>) / Collection: <u>Chester M. Pierce Papers</u> / (1969) pages 303 and 251.

Mr. Tucker has not achieved substantial justice even though he has been paid.

## 3. The Claim Is Not Moot

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