FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/1/2024 10:30 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

#### No. 102691-9

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 853139

SAMUEL TUCKER, an individual,

Plaintiff/Petitioner,

v.

SEATTLE CITY LIGHT, a department of THE CITY OF SEATTLE, a municipality, and ANDREW STRONG, an individual,

Defendants/Respondents.

# RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Submitted by:

Jeffrey A. James, WSBA #18277 Amanda V. Masters, WSBA #46342 Sebris Busto James 15375 SE 30<sup>th</sup> Place, Suite 310 Bellevue, WA 98007 Tel: (425) 454-4233

Attorneys for Defendants/Respondents

# **

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This statement of justification is not credible given that Tucker first filed his tort claim for damages more than 60 days prior to filing his Complaint for Damages in May 2021, and had already been waiting for "the money" for years. CP 1.

checks. At that point, there was no further relief he could possibly seek and his appeal became moot.

#### B. Tucker lacks standing to pursue this appeal.

The Commissioner and the Court of Appeals correctly found that Tucker does not have standing to bring an appeal, as he is not an aggrieved party. Standing is not a "personal right" as Tucker contends (without any legal support). RAP 3.1 precludes Tucker's appeal in this matter. RAP 3.1 states, "Only an aggrieved party may seek review by the appellate court." This Court recently held that the Court of Appeals erred by entertaining review of an appellant's appeal where the appellant was not "aggrieved" within the meaning of RAP 3.1, writing as follows:

While RAP 3.1 does not itself define the term "aggrieved," Washington courts have long held that "[f]or a party to be aggrieved, the decision must adversely affect that party's property or pecuniary rights, or a personal right, or impose on a party a burden or obligation." In re Parentage of *X.T.L.*, No. 31335-2-III, slip op. at 17 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 19, 2014) (unpublished), http://www.courts.wa.gov/opinions/pdf/313352.unp.pdf; State v. Taylor, 150 Wn.2d 599, 603, 80 P.3d 605 (2003) (stating that an aggrieved party is "one whose personal right or pecuniary interests have been affected"); Sheets v. Benevolent & Protective Order of Keglers, 34 Wn.2d 851, 855, 210 P.2d 690 (1949). A party is not aggrieved by a favorable decision and cannot properly appeal from such

a decision. *Paich v. N. Pac. Ry. Co.*, 88 Wash. 163, 165-66, 152 P. 719 (1915). "[T]he mere fact that a person is hurt in his [or her] feelings, wounded in his [or her] affections, or subjected to inconvenience, annoyance, discomfort, or even expense by a decree, does not entitle [that party] to appeal from it." *Elterich v. Arndt*, 175 Wash. 562, 564, 27 P.2d 1102 (1933) (quoting 2 RULING CASE LAW Necessity That Appellant Be Prejudiced § 34, at 53 (1914)).

Randy Reynolds & Assocs. v. Harmon, 193 Wn.2d 143, 150-151 (2019).

Tucker asserts the Commissioner's ruling, and by extension the Court of Appeals' ruling, "is caused by an inability to see racial microaggressions." *See* Petition for Review, p. 19. The biographies of the respective – and respected – jurists suggest otherwise.<sup>5</sup> Ironically, Tucker is the only party that has had complaints sustained against him by women and women of color. As recently as his deposition in this matter he was

5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See

https://www.courts.wa.gov/appellate\_trial\_courts/bios/?fa=atc\_bios.display&folderid=div1&fileID=Kanazawa;
https://www.courts.wa.gov/appellate\_trial\_courts/bios/?fa=atc\_bios.display&folderid=div1&fileID=chung
https://www.courts.wa.gov/appellate\_trial\_courts/bios/?fa=atc\_bios.display&folderid=div1&fileID=coburn
https://www.courts.wa.gov/appellate\_trial\_courts/bios/?fa=atc\_bios.display&folderid=div1&fileID=Hazelrigg.

unabashedly referring to black female applicants as "colored girls."

Tucker wrongly claims he has not achieved "substantial justice" because of "the trial judge's improper decision to delete the white manager's name from the judgment summaries." Petition for Review, p. 20. Strong's name was not "deleted" from the judgment summary — it was not included. This distinction is material—the trial court did not grant Strong special dispensation because he is white; it agreed there was no benefit or need to include him because by law the judgment creditor was the City. This in no way rendered the justice Tucker obtained from accepting the Offer of Judgment "insubstantial."

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See, e.g., James Decl., Ex. 3, pp. 6-7, quoting Deposition of Samuel Tucker:

Q You just referred to these women multiple times as colored girls --

A That's right.

Q -- and you're saying HR was discriminatory?

A No, I'm just saying that those colored girls -- those two colored girls -- I'm just saying those two-colored girls, now, that's the way it was, the two Black ladies. There was two Black ladies. They were colored women.

Tucker Dep., 105:20-106:3.

#### C. Tucker's appeal is moot as no relief can be granted.

As a general rule, appellate courts "do not consider cases that are moot or present only abstract questions." *State v. Beaver*, 184 Wn.2d 321, 330 (2015), citing *State v. Hunley*, 175 Wn.2d 901, 907, 287 P.3d 584 (2012); *see also Sorenson v. City of Bellingham*, 80 Wn.2d 547, 558, 496 P.2d 512 (1972) (same). "A case is technically moot if the court can no longer provide effective relief." *Hunley*, 175 Wn.2d at 907.

However, "if a case presents an issue of continuing and substantial public interest and that issue will likely reoccur, the court may still reach a determination on the merits to provide guidance to lower courts." *Beaver*, 184 Wn.2d at 330. In deciding whether a moot case presents an issue of continuing and substantial public interest, a court considers: (1) the public or private nature of the question presented, (2) the desirability of an authoritative determination for the future guidance, and (3) the likelihood of future recurrence of the issue. *Id.*, 184 Wn.2d at 330-331. The court may also consider the level of adversity between the parties. *Id.* 

The continuing and substantial public interest exception has been used in cases dealing with constitutional interpretation, the validity of statutes or regulations, and matters that are sufficiently important to the appellate court. This exception is not used in cases that are limited to their specific facts.

(Internal citations omitted; emphasis added.) *Id. See also Orwick, et. al v. The City of Seattle*, 103 Wn. 2d 249, 254, 692 P. 2d 793 (1984) (dismissing appeal because petitioners' claim for relief became moot before trial and they no longer had an existing interest to litigate).

Here, a Judgment was issued based on the agreement of the parties – Respondents made an Offer of Judgment and Tucker accepted that Offer of Judgment. The trial court correctly entered the Judgment on the parties' agreement. The Judgment was paid in full within days of entry. A judgment is satisfied when it has been paid. *Kalid v. Citrix Sys., Inc.*, No. 82822-3-I (Wash. Ct. App. Jan. 31, 2022), citing RCW 4.56.100.

Tucker admitted that the Judgment has been fully satisfied,
He acknowledged his appeal is effectively moot by citing a long
line of persuasive precedent in his pleading filed with the trial
court in opposition to entry of the satisfaction Order:

"[T]he law is well settled that a satisfaction of judgment is the last act and end of a proceeding." *Dooley v. Cal-Cut Pipe & Supply, Inc.*, 197 Colo. 362, 364, 593 P.2d 360,

362 (1979), see *Scott v. Denver*, 125 Colo. 68, 241 P.2d 857 (1952); *Cason v. Glass Bottle Blowers Ass'n*, 113 Cal.App.2d 263, 247 P.2d 931 (1952); *Stull v. Allen*, 165 Kan. 202, 193 P.2d 207 (1948). "A satisfaction signifies that the litigation is over, the dispute is settled, the account is paid." *Morris North American, Inc. v. King*, 430 So.2d 592 (Fla. 4th DCA, 1983).

James Decl. at ¶ 19, Ex. 17, 8:6-13.

Tucker continues to waste judicial time and resources on an appeal he acknowledges is moot, arguing that the Supreme Court can still consider moot appeals. Petition for Review, p. 7. None of the factors justifying appellate review of a moot order apply here. Particularly, this case does not fall under any classification of previous justifications for invoking the public interest exception. Such matters included the need to clarify statutory interpretation, significant constitutional questions, and the interest of keeping families together. *Matter of Dependency* of L.C.S., 200 Wn.2d 91 (2002); In re Det. Of M.W. v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 185 Wn.2d 633 (2016); In re Swanson, 115 Wn.2d 21, 25 (1990) (accord); *Beaver*, 184 Wn.2d at 331 (same). Public interest is not triggered when a plaintiff promptly receives full payment of the judgment he accepted. Tucker has

manufactured litigation here for personal reasons, not for the public good.

Tucker's assertion that an adverse finding will trigger a "wave" of excluding defendants from a judgment debtor line is speculative and unrealistic. The purpose of a judgment summary is to establish payment terms for enforcement. Where an individual defendant bears no actual responsibility for payment it serves no societal interest to have that person listed on the judgment summary, nor does it help the judgment recipient. In the case of an action against the City of Seattle, where the ordinance provides that the City shall indemnify the individual and pay any judgment, it serves no purpose, and no public interest is implicated, to include individual defendants in the judgment summary, particularly where there has been no finding of liability.

Applying the factors listed in *In re Marriage of Horner*, 151 Wn.2d 884, 93 P.3d 124 (2004), the nuance of this particular judgment summary is of interest only to Tucker and his counsel (and other than for vindictiveness, it is unclear why even they care) and potentially applicable only to employees of the City

who might be named in lawsuits for actions taken in the course of employment for the City.<sup>7</sup> There is no need for an "authoritative determination" to provide guidance to public officers because the determination of "judgment debtor" is straightforward when the City and an individual employee are named as defendants and the individual is entitled to indemnification under SMC 4.64.010. The issue is not likely to reoccur – this may be the first time it has ever occurred since the City was founded in 1869.8 The level of "adverseness" is undisputable – but also misguided<sup>9</sup> – and not determinative. What is clear beyond a doubt is that no public interest will be served by allowing Tucker to continue to use the appellate process to make baseless accusations of racism and "white

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Tucker's argument that "this Court needs to intervene to establish limits for what a trial court can do to a CR 68 judgment" is a gross overstatement. The trial court did not profess confusion on how to interpret or apply CR 68. It simply ruled that Strong did not need to be listed as a judgment debtor because he was entitled to indemnification under SMC 4.64.010.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See <a href="https://www.seattle.gov/cityarchives/seattle-facts/brief-history-of-seattle">https://www.seattle.gov/cityarchives/seattle-facts/brief-history-of-seattle</a>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> One plausible motivation for pursuing this appeal so zealously is Tucker's counsel's personal vendetta; a LEXIS search reveals Tucker's counsel has sued the City more than 10 times.

privilege" against the female judicial officers who have rejected his frivolous arguments.

#### D. The trial court appropriately applied CR 60.

Tucker's petition ignores that the trial court retains authority to hear and determine post-judgment motions and needs permission from the Court of Appeals only when its decision "will change a decision then being reviewed by the appellate court." RAP 7.2(e). The trial court entering a Satisfaction of Judgment in this matter, to which Tucker's counsel had agreed after depositing the two checks, does not change the decision being reviewed by the appellate court, as it does not affect the judgment. CR 60(b). The Satisfaction of Judgment merely formalized for the record that the Judgment has been satisfied and is no longer a debt to be collected.

Procedurally, Tucker cannot bring any arguments regarding the City's CR 60 motion, other than jurisdictional questions, as he failed to timely bring these arguments to the trial court and the trial court did not take his untimely response into consideration. James Decl., Ex. 18.

Regardless, Tucker's citation to CR 60(e) is misplaced. That section sets forth the "Procedure on Vacation of Judgment." The City never moved to *vacate* the Judgment. Its motion was brought pursuant to CR 60(b), which provides in part, "[o]n motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may relieve a party from a final judgment . . . for the following reasons: . . . (6) The judgment has been satisfied[.]" Procedurally, all that is required is that the motion be made "within a reasonable time," which it was. *Id.* The City's motion did not "affect the finality of the judgment" in any way, which is a matter of judicial record. *Id.* In short, this is yet another baseless argument that in no way justifies Tucker's continued frivolous appeal. <sup>10</sup>

### E. Tucker's appeal is frivolous.

An appeal is frivolous if, considering the entire record, the appeal presents no debatable issues upon which reasonable minds might differ and the appeal is so totally devoid of merit

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Although Tucker criticizes Respondents from relying on RCW 4.56.100 and CR 60(b)(6) to create a judicial record that the Judgment has been satisfied, he does not point to an alternate means to achieve this result when counsel for one party is not cooperative. Typically, counsel submit a stipulated satisfaction of judgment, which would have occurred here had Tucker's counsel not reneged on his agreement to do so.

that there is no reasonable possibility of reversal. *Cottringer v. Emp't Sec. Dep't*, 162 Wn. App. 782, 790 (2011), citing *Tiffany Family Trust Corp v. City of Kent*, 155 Wn.2d 225, 241 (2005).

Here, there is no debatable issue that when a plaintiff collects and deposits the entirety of the funds owed from a judgment, the judgment is fully satisfied. There is no possibility of reversal, particularly when the judgment fully reflects the parties' agreement. There is no further action to be taken by the trial court.

Tucker's appeal is not based on any law or sound legal argument and there are no debatable issues upon which reasonable minds might differ. His claim of "white supremacy" is utterly absurd. Under the conditions laid out in SMC 4.64.010, the City is *required* to indemnify employees who are sued as a result of acts within the scope of their employment, and indemnification is available for all employees regardless of their race or skin color. Tucker's characterization of the City's unremarkable and legally required indemnification of Strong as "white supremacy" exemplifies the frivolous nature of Tucker's appeal.

In sum, if Tucker held a true belief that the Judgment was entered incorrectly, he should not have accepted and deposited the \$478,162.68 in funds before filing his appeal. Yet he did and thus there is no relief that this Court can grant because the Judgment has been fully satisfied. His appeal is frivolous and should be denied.

# F. Tucker's attempt to once again weaponize *Henderson* is disgraceful.

Tucker repeatedly quotes from *Henderson v. Thompson*, 200 Wn.2d 417, 421, 518 P.3d 1011, 1016 (2022), *cert. denied*, 143 S. Ct. 2412 (2023), and uses the terms "white supremacy," "white privilege," and "racial microaggressions" in reference to the trial court, the Court of Appeals Commissioner, and the Court of Appeals Judges who denied his Motion to Modify. He likewise asserts he had requested a *Henderson* evidentiary hearing to the trial court, omitting that this was originally suggested by Respondents prior to Tucker accepting the Offer of Judgment.<sup>11</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Respondents planned to seek judicial guidance on how to introduce evidence of Tucker's race-based and gender-based bullying in light of *Henderson*.

The actions of the trial court, the Commissioner and the Court of Appeals are not "chilling" or inconsistent with the *Henderson* ruling, as Tucker claims. *Henderson* has nothing to do with offers of judgment, the mootness doctrine, or any other issue raised here. Tucker's attempt to twist *Henderson* is completely ineffective and belittles this Court's opinion in that case.

# G. Defendants are entitled to reasonable fees for having to respond to multiple frivolous motions.

RAP 18.9(a) permits an appellate court to award attorney fees to a party as sanctions, terms, or compensatory damages when the opposing party files a frivolous appellate action. Tucker has forced the City to respond to multiple motions, despite findings that his appeal was frivolous. He *knew* that his appeal was moot at the outset yet continued to file motion after motion. Thus, the City respectfully requests that, as a sanction, the Court award it attorney fees associated with having to defend Tucker's frivolous appeal.

# **Conclusion**

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